#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FRED REUBEN CLARKE,

Petitioner,

v. STATE OF FLORIDA, CASE NO. SC00-305

Respondent.

# PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

# PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Pursuant to the Florida Supreme Court's Administrative Order dated July 13, 1998, this brief has been printed in Courier New (12 point) proportionately spaced.

Petitioner was the defendant in the criminal division of the circuit court of the Fourteenth Judicial Circuit in and for Bay County, Florida, and the appellant in the First District Court of Appeal. Respondent was the prosecution and appellee below.

The parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable court. The following symbols will be used: References to the record on appeal shall be by the letter "R" followed by the page number. References to the trial transcript shall be by the letter "T" followed by the page number. References to the

supplemental record on appeal shall be by the letters "SR" followed by the page number.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner, Fred Reuben Clarke, was charged by information with battery on a law enforcement officer in Count I, felony fleeing in Count II, reckless driving in Count III, driving while license suspended in Count IV, and leaving the scene of an accident with property damage in Count V. (R 20-21) Prior to trial, petitioner pled guilty to driving while license suspended in Count IV of the information and was sentenced to time served. (R 39-40, 97-99)

Petitioner proceeded to a jury trial on the remaining counts. For purposes of trial, Count V, the leaving the scene with property damage charge, was renumbered as Count IV.

The jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged in the information in Count I, a verdict of guilty to the lesser offense of fleeing or attempting to elude in Count II, and verdicts of guilty as charged in the information in Count III and the renumbered Count IV. (R 44-45) Petitioner was adjudicated guilty and sentenced to five years in the Department of Corrections as both an habitual violent felony offender and prison releasee reoffender in Count I. Petitioner was also sentenced to time served in Counts II, III, and V.

On direct appeal to the First District Court of Appeal,

petitioner's convictions and sentences were affirmed. The First District Court of Appeal certified the same question it certified in <u>Woods v. State</u>, 740 So.2d 20 (Fla. 1st DCA), <u>review granted</u>, 740 So.2d 529 (Fla. 1999) as one of great public importance:

DOES PRISON REOFFENDER THE RELEASEE PUNISHMENT ACT, CODIFIED ATSECTION 775.082(A), FLORIDA STATUTES (1997),VIOLATE THE SEPARATION OF POWERS CLAUSE OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION?

Clarke v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D2505 (Fla. 1st DCA Nov. 1, 1999). On February 9, 2000, the First District Court of Appeal denied petitioner's motion for rehearing and certification.

Notice of intent to seek discretionary review was filed by petitioner on February 11, 2000. On February 15, 2000, this Court issued an order postponing decision on jurisdiction and briefing schedule. This merits brief follows.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Officer Wesley, of the Springfield Police Department, testified that in March 1998, he was working as a police officer for the city of Springfield. On March 7, 1998, he was driving west on 11th Street when he observed a vehicle run off the side of the road. The driver came back up onto the roadway and passed him by Rutherford High School at School Avenue. According to Wesley, the driver went completely down in the bus

off-loading ramp. Wesley turned around and turned on his blue lights. This was between 12:30 and 1:00 a.m. He was in a white patrol car with the City of Springfield on the side of the car. (T 17-19) Wesley tried to stop the driver, but the driver came back up onto the highway around Ram Road. The driver went across the center dividing line and he was making sharp movements back and forth across the highway. Wesley turned his siren on and tried to stop the vehicle but the vehicle rapidly picked up speed and took off. This was between 11th and Helen and Sanders. While eastbound on 11th, the vehicle made sharp erratic movements back and forth across the highway. According to Wesley, the vehicle was a black Firebird or Trans Am. (T 20-21) The driver turned on Transmitter going north. The driver ran a red light, lost control, and was fishtailing back and forth across the highway. Wesley followed him 60 miles an hour in a 40 mile per hour zone on Transmitter. Petitioner turned into a trailer park at 1401 Transmitter Road. At the time, petitioner stepped on his gas, spun the car around, and the back of his car hit a pine tree. Petitioner came back out on the highway and spun and hit the front of the officer's vehicle. (T 20-23)

According to Wesley, his car was struck in the front end on the push pad and the left corner which would be the driver's side front corner. In other words, he was side-swiped. Petitioner's car took off and he turned into another trailer

park at 1329. Wesley had his lights and siren still going. Petitioner pulled in right under a tree. Wesley pulled in behind. Petitioner got out of the vehicle and Wesley told him to stop. According to Wesley, petitioner said, "Fuck you, fuck boy, I made it home, you can't do shit to me." Petitioner took off running. Wesley grabbed him by his left arm and pulled him around. Petitioner pushed him in the chest trying to break free. Wesley testified that petitioner started striking him in the chest and arm. As a result, Wesley testified that he had a big bruise on his right arm. Wesley eventually gave petitioner a knee strike to the stomach and when petitioner bent over, he turned him around, rammed him into his car, and bent him over the car and handcuffed him. (T 24-27, 29) Wesley also testified Sergeant Roswell was in charge of the that investigation.

Sergeant Roswell, of the Springfield Police Department, testified that petitioner was in custody upon his arrival. Roswell observed damage to a pine tree and skid marks in the dirt. He also observed damage to the front bumpers and push guards on Wesley's patrol car. The Firebird had damage to the right fender from striking the pine tree and damage to the left driver's door and left fender from striking the patrol car. (T 42-44) Petitioner's car was not black; it was silver. (T 47)

Petitioner testified that he lives at 1329 North Transmitter, lot number 1 and that he has two prior felony

convictions. On March 6, 1998, he went to his mother's house that evening. His mother lives on Everett Avenue. After he left his mother's house, he went down 11th to Everett, to Business 98, took a right, went up to School Avenue, and took a left down 11th. He was traveling east at 45 miles per hour. (T 61-63) Petitioner testified that he was not going on and off the road. He did not go into the bus loading zone at Rutherford. He observed a vehicle coming towards him that he knew was law enforcement. He hit his brakes. According to petitioner, the officer passed him and he didn't observe the officer turn around. Petitioner took a left on Transmitter from 11th and the officer came up behind him. He was not fishtailing. He was however, going 50 miles per hour. The officer turned his lights on by Phillips Meat Market on Transmitter. According petitioner, the officer activated his blue lights twice. Petitioner was fifty yards from his house so he pulled into his driveway. (T 64-67)

Petitioner parked his car, opened his door, and the officer grabbed his arm, snatched him out of the car, grabbed him by the back of the neck, spun him around, kneed him in his stomach, slammed him into the car, and handcuffed him. (T 68) As a result, petitioner had a knot on his head. Petitioner told the officer that roughing him up was not necessary. Petitioner testified that he did not strike the officer in the chest nor did he hit him in his arm. There was no physical contact.

Petitioner denied striking the tree or striking the patrol car. There was no damage to petitioner's car. Petitioner also testified that he did not leave the scene of the accident, did not swerve on and off the road, did not swing at or push or kick the cop, and did not say I'm home, you can't arrest me. (T 68-71)

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue I: Section 775.082, Florida Statutes (1997), (Prison Releasee Reoffender Act) violates the separation of powers provision of the Florida Constitution because it delegates to the State Attorney, an executive branch official, the power to make the final determination as to what sentence to impose upon a qualifying offender, an inherently judicial function. Section 775.082, Florida Statutes (1997) also violates the single subject rule of the Florida Constitution because its passage in Chapter 97-239, Laws of Florida, was accompanied by numerous other provisions not logically related to the subject matter of prison releasee reoffenders or the means utilized to achieve enhanced sentencing of prison releasee reoffenders.

Issue II: Petitioner's sentences under both the Prison Releasee Reoffender Statute and the Habitual Violent Felony Offender Statute violate the double jeopardy clauses of both the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution. The double

jeopardy clause protects against multiple punishments for the same offense.

Issue III: It was error to sentence petitioner as an habitual violent felony offender. Respondent failed to meet its burden to get the enhanced sentencing under Section 775.084(1)(b), Florida Statutes (1997) by failing to prove and introduce into evidence the certified copies of one of the statutorily enumerated prior felonies.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### ISSUE I

PETITIONER'S SENTENCE AS A PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER IS ILLEGAL WHERE THE PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER STATUTE WAS ENACTED IN VIOLATION OF THE SEPARATION OF POWERS CLAUSE OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION AND THE SINGLE SUBJECT REQUIREMENT OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

Petitioner was sentenced to five years in prison as a prison releasee reoffender upon his conviction for battery on a law enforcement officer. Petitioner's sentence as a prison releasee reoffender is unconstitutional.

The Prison Releasee Reoffender Act is unconstitutional in two respects. First, it violates the separation of powers provision of the Florida Constitution. Article III, Section 3, Florida Constitution. Second, it violates the single subject requirement of the Florida Constitution. Article III, Section 6, Florida Constitution.

The Prison Releasee Reoffender Act, Section 775.082, Florida Statutes (1997), as construed in Woods v. State, 740 So.2d 20 (Fla. 1st DCA), review granted, 740 So.2d 529 (Fla. 1999) violates the separation of powers provision because it delegates legislative authority to establish penalties for crimes and judicial authority to impose sentences to the State Attorney as an official of the executive branch. The Act provides that the State Attorney, upon a showing that an offender qualifies as a prison releasee reoffender, shall have the discretion to determine whether the offender shall be subject to the mandatory sentencing provisions of the Act upon consideration of certain subjective criteria including the wishes of the victim and "other extenuating circumstances" which preclude "just prosecution" of the offender.

The legislature cannot delegate to the State Attorney, through vague standards, the discretion to choose both the charge and the penalty and thereby prohibit the court from performing its inherent judicial function of imposing sentence. The legislature may enact mandatory sentences. See, O'Donnell v. State, 326 So.2d 4 (Fla. 1975) (finding thirty-year minimum mandatory sentence for kidnapping constitutional). The State Attorney enjoys virtually unlimited discretion in making charging decisions. State v. Bloom, 497 So.2d 2 (Fla. 1986). But the power to impose within the limits provided by law is traditionally vested in the judiciary. Smith v. State, 537

So.2d 982, 986 (Fla. 1989).

Florida's habitual offender law, Section 775.084, Florida Statutes, does not offend the separation of powers principle. Although the State Attorney may seek habitual offender sentencing, the trial judge retains discretion to find such enhanced sentencing not necessary for the protection of the public. <u>Seabrook v. State</u>, 629 So.2d 129, 130 (Fla. 1993). Similarly, in State v. Benitez, 395 So.2d 514 (Fla. 1981), the for mandatory sentence provided drug trafficking was accompanied by an "escape valve" which can only be triggered by initiative of the State Attorney. In Benitez, the statute did not violate the separation of powers provision because vested in the prosecution only the narrow authority to determine whether a defendant had provided substantial assistance, an area particularly within the knowledge of the prosecutor. In addition, the separation of powers clause was offended because the trial court retained the final discretion on what sentence to impose. Id.

The Prison Releasee Reoffender Act is different, however. When the State Attorney makes a decision to charge an offender as a prison releasee reoffender, the State Attorney also makes the final determination as to sentence to be imposed. The legislature has no authority to delegate to the executive branch an inherent judicial power. Gough v. State ex rel Sauls, 55 So.2d 111, 116 (Fla. 1951) (legislature without authority to

delegate to Avon Park city council power to determine legality of validity of votes cast). In the present case, the decision of the State Attorney to charge a defendant as a prison releasee reoffender constituted a decision by the State Attorney as to what sentence to impose. In this respect, the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act violates the separation of powers doctrine.

In the alternative, petitioner notes that the Second and Fourth District Courts of Appeal have found the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act constitutional, but have interpreted the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act to retain sentencing discretion with the trial court. In State v. Cotton, 728 So.2d 251 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998), review granted, 737 So. 2d 551 (Fla. 1999) and State v. Wise, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D657 (Fla. 4th DCA March 10, 1999), review granted, 741 So. 2d 1137 (Fla. 1999), the district courts held that the trial court retained the discretion to apply the statutory exceptions even where the State Attorney seeks impliedly rejects the enhanced sentencing and statutory exception. Thus, in the alternative, petitioner requests that this Court adopt the rationale of the Second and Fourth District Courts of Appeal should it find the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act constitutional.

The Prison Releasee Reoffender Act also violates the single subject requirement of the Florida Constitution. Article III, Section 6, Florida Constitution. The legislation challenge

in this case was passed as Chapter 97-239, Laws of Florida. It created the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act and was placed in Section 775.082, Florida Statutes (1997). This new law amended or created Sections 944.705, 947.141, 948.06, 948.01, and 958.14. These various provisions concern matters ranging from whether a youthful offender shall be committed to the custody of the department to when a court may place a defendant on probation or in community control if the person is a substance abuser. See, Sections 948.01 and 958.14, Florida Statutes (1997). Other matters encompassed within the Act included expanding the category of persons authorized to arrest a probationer or person on community control for a violation. See Section 948.06, Florida Statutes (1997).

The only portion of the legislation that relates to the same subject matter as sentencing prison releasee reoffenders is the provision creating Section 944.705, Florida Statutes (1997). This section requires the Department of Corrections to notify every inmate of the consequences of the Act for the commission of criminal activity within three years of release from prison. The other subjects are not reasonably connected or related and are not part of a single subject.

In <u>Bunnell v. State</u>, 453 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1984), this Court struck an act for containing two subjects within it. This Court noted that one purpose of the constitutional requirement was to give fair notice concerning the nature and substance of the

legislation, citing to <a href="Kirkland v. Phillips">Kirkland v. Phillips</a>, 106 So.2d 909 (Fla. 1958). However, even if the title of the act gives fair notice, as the legislation did in <u>Bunnell</u>, another requirement of the single subject provision is to allow intelligent lawmaking and to prevent logrolling of legislation. State ex rel <u>Landis v. Thompson</u>, 120 Fla. 860, 163 So. 270 (1935); and 100 Fla. 1054, 132 So. Williams v. State, 186 Legislation that violates the single subject rule can become a cloak within which dissimilar legislation may be passed without being fairly debated or considered on its own merits. State v. 356 So.2d 276 (Fla. 1978). The Florida Constitution Lee, specifically prohibits this kind of legislation in Article III, Section 6.

This Court's decision in <u>Burch v. State</u>, 558 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1990) is distinguishable because although complex, the legislation there was designed to combat crime through fighting money laundering and educational programs to foster safer neighborhoods. The means by which this subject was accomplished involved amendments to several statutes which by itself does not violate the single subject rule. The statute at bar, although less comprehensive in total scope as the one considered in <u>Burch</u> is less contained in its subject. It violates the single subject rule because the provisions dealing with probation violations, arrest of violators and forfeiting of gain time for violations of control release are not

reasonably related matters to specific mandatory punishment provisions for persons convicted of certain enumerated crimes within three years of release from prison. If the Florida Constitution's single subject rule means only that "crime" is a subject, then the legislation can pass review, but that is not the rationale utilized by this Court in considering whether acts of the legislature comply. The proper manner to review the statute is to consider the purpose of the various provisions, and the means provided to accomplish those goals and then the conclusion will be clear that several subjects are contained in the legislation. Bunnell, supra; State v. Johnson, 616 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1993); Burch, supra; State v. Thompson, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S1 (Fla. Dec. 22, 1999).

Accordingly, this cause must be reversed and remanded with directions that petitioner's sentence as a prison releasee reoffender be vacated.

#### ISSUE II

PETITIONER'S SENTENCES BOTH UNDER HABITUAL VIOLENT FELONY OFFENDER STATUTE AND THE PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER STATUTE FOR THE SAME OFFENSE VIOLATE THEDOUBLE JEOPARDY CLAUSES OF BOTH THE FIFTH AMENDMENT OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTION 9 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

Petitioner was sentenced to a five year mandatory minimum sentence in the Department of Corrections under both the Prison Releasee Reoffender Statute and the Habitual Violent Felony

Offender Statute. (R 59-63, 66-68, 89, 93) Petitioner's sentences under both statutes violate the double jeopardy clauses of both the Florida and Federal Constitutions by punishing petitioner twice for the same conviction.

Preliminarily, this Court may reach the merits of petitioner's claim despite the lack of an objection below. The prohibition against double jeopardy is fundamental. Benton v. Maryland, 395 U.S. 784, 795-96, 89 S.Ct. 2056, 2063, 23 L.Ed.2d 707 (1969). See also, State v. Mancino, 714 So.2d 429 (Fla. 1998) (a sentence that patently fails to comport with statutory or constitutional limitations is by definition illegal and constitutes fundamental error.)

The double jeopardy clause of both the United States Constitution and the Florida Constitution guarantee that no person shall twice be put in jeopardy for the same offense. Part of that protection is against multiple punishments for the same offense. See, Lippman v. State, 633 So.2d 1061, 1064 (Fla. 1994). In the instant case, petitioner has received two separate sentences for the same offense.

In <u>Adams v. State</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D2394, 2395 (Fla. 4th DCA Oct. 20, 1999), the Fourth District Court of Appeal examined the Prison Releasee Reoffender Statute in determining that the imposition of separate sentences under the Habitual Felony Offender Statute and under the Prison Releasee Reoffender Statute for the same offense constitutes a violation

of the double jeopardy clause:

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