IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FRED REUBEN CLARKE,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. SC00-305

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

GISELLE LYLEN RIVERA ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0508012

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

Merits

The Petitioner asserts that the prison release reoffender statute violates the separation of powers clause by improperly delegating the authority to prescribe punishment to the executive branch prosecutor and also contends that the statute violates the single subject rule. The State respectfully disagrees and notes that the District Court of Appeal certification of the question related solely to whether the statute violated the separation of powers doctrine. The State therefore takes the position that while this Court has the authority to consider any matter relating to the case, it should decline to address any matter outside the certified question. To do otherwise places the District Court in the position of becoming a court of intermediary review, rather than a court of last resort within Constitutional limitations.

The issue presented is currently pending before this Court in <u>Woods v. State</u>, 740 So.2d 20 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), <u>review granted</u>, 740 So.2d 529 (Fla. 1999) in case number 95,281² and in <u>Durden v.</u>

² Oral argument was held on November 3, 1999.

<u>State</u>, case number 96,479. The State adopts its briefs in those cases and urges the Court to hold this case in abeyance pending resolution of <u>Woods</u>.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD ADDRESS THIS NON-JURISDICTIONAL ISSUE WHICH THE DISTRICT COURT AFFIRMED WITHOUT COMMENT AND, IF SO, WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY SENTENCING PETITIONER AS BOTH AN HABITUAL OFFENDER AND A PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER? (Restated)

Preliminary statement

The Petitioner contends that imposition of both habitual violent felony offender and prison releasee reoffender sentences violated the prohibition against double jeopardy and asserts that because the error is fundamental his failure to preserve the alleged error below does not prevent him from raising it on appeal. This non-jurisdictional issue was affirmed without comment by the District Court and should not be addressed here.

The State acknowledges that this Court has discretionary authority to consider issues other than those upon which jurisdiction is based where such other issues are fully briefed and dispositive of the case, <u>Savoie v. State</u>, 422 So.2d 308, 312 (Fla. 1982), but notes that the District Court below affirmed on this claim without comment. Clearly the instant issue is not dispositive of the case and the State therefore asserts that this Court should decline to address this issue. See: <u>Stephens v.</u> <u>State</u>, 572 So.2d 1387 (Fla. 1991) and <u>State v. Gibson</u>, 585 So.2d 285 (Fla. 1991)(Court declined to address other issues raised by the parties which lay beyond the scope of the certified question.); <u>Burks v. State</u>, 613 So.2d 441, 446 fn.6 (Fla. 1993) ("We decline to address the other issues raised in the appeal

- 10 -

because they are unnecessary to the resolution of the certified question."); <u>State v. Hodges</u>, 616 So.2d 994 (Fla. 1993) (The Court declined to address the second certified question in which claimant made a new argument for the first time on the grounds that it would require resolution of extensive factual matters, citing, <u>Trushin v. State</u>, 425 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1982).)

<u>Preservation</u>

Because the use of dual sentences does not violate double jeopardy, the Petitioner's failure to raise this sentencing issue below bars review. F.S. 924.051.

<u>Merits</u>

The dual use of the prison releasee reoffender and the habitual offender statute does not violate the double jeopardy clause's prohibition on multiple punishments because the legislature has authorized the use of these statutes in tandem. The double jeopardy clause does no more than prohibit cumulative punishments that are not statutorily authorized. The prison releasee reoffender statute specifically refers to the habitual offender statute in a subsection. Thus, the legislature has authorized the use of these two sentencing statutes in tandem with each other and therefore, no violation of the double jeopardy clause occurred.

The trial court imposed a five year habitual violent felony offender sentence, noting that it could, in fact, impose up to ten years and also imposed a five year prison releasee reoffender sentence. The Petitioner never raised any objection to the

- 11 -

sentences for any reason. Imposition of both statutes has not in any fashion increased the amount of time the Petitioner is required to serve.

Federal & Florida Constitutions

The Fifth Amendment to the Federal Constitution provides:

nor shall any person be subject for the same offence to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb;

U.S. CONST. AMEND. V., CL. 2.

The Due process clause of the Florida Constitution provides:

No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property without due process of law, or be twice put in jeopardy for the same offense, or be compelled in any criminal matter to be a witness against himself.

I, § 9, FLA. CONST. These constitutional provisions protect Art. persons against multiple punishments for the same offense as well as multiple prosecutions. <u>Witte v. United States</u>, 515 U.S. 389, 390-92, 115 S.Ct. 2199, 2202, 132 L.Ed.2d 351 (1995). However, where a legislature specifically authorizes cumulative punishment under two statutes, regardless of whether those statutes violate Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299, 52 S.Ct. 180, 76 L.Ed. 306 (1932), a court's task of statutory construction is at an end and the prosecutor may seek, and the trial court may impose, cumulative punishment under such statutes. Missouri v. <u>Hunter</u>, 459 U.S. 359, 368-69, 103 S.Ct. 673, 679-80, 74 L.Ed.2d 535 (1983); United States v. Nyhuis, 8 F.3d 731 (11th Cir. 1993)(following other circuits and holding that Double Jeopardy Clause does not bar punishment for criminal conduct that has already been considered and used as the basis for a sentence

- 12 -

enhancement in an earlier prosecution); <u>Smallwood v. Johnson</u>, 73 F.3d 1343 (5th Cir. 1996) (noting that the double enhancement of defendant's offense - offense was upgraded from misdemeanor to felony based on prior convictions, which triggered operation of state habitual offender enhancement statute - did not violate double jeopardy clause of Fifth Amendment because the legislature intended for upgrade statute and enhancement statute to be applied in conjunction); <u>State v. Smith</u>, 547 So.2d 613 (Fla. 1989). Thus, the issue is whether the legislature intends the prison releasee reoffender statute and the habitual offender statute to be alternatives or cumulative methods of punishment.

The prison release reoffender statute, § 775.082(8)(c), Fla. Stat. (1997), provides:

Nothing in this subsection shall prevent a court from imposing a greater sentence of incarceration as authorized by law, pursuant to s. 775.084 or any other provision of law.

The prison release reoffender statute specifically refers to the habitual offender statute. Thus, the legislature specifically indicated that they intended the prison release reoffender to work in tandem with the habitual offender statute. Thus, no double jeopardy violation occurs when a trial court sentences a defendant as both a prison release reoffender and a habitual offender.

While <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 659 So.2d 1060 (Fla. 1995), <u>Brooks v.</u> <u>State</u>, 630 So.2d 527 (Fla. 1993) and <u>Hale v. State</u>, 630 So.2d 521 (Fla. 1993) have prohibited dual minimum mandatory sentences to be imposed consecutively, both minimum mandatory sentence may be

- 13 -

They just must run concurrently. Palmer v. State, 438 imposed. So.2d 1 (Fla. 1983) (prohibiting the "stacking" of consecutive mandatory three-year minimum sentences); Daniels v. State, 595 So.2d 952 (Fla. 1992) (prohibiting the imposition of consecutive life in prison with a fifteen-year minimum mandatory sentences); Hale v. State, 630 So.2d 521 (Fla. 1993) (prohibiting consecutive habitual offender minimum mandatory sentences); Brooks v. State, 630 So.2d 527 (Fla. 1993)(prohibiting consecutive violent habitual offender minimum mandatory sentences); Jackson v. State, 659 So.2d 1060 (Fla. 1995) (holding violent habitual offender and firearm minimum mandatory sentences may be imposed but must run concurrently with one another if they arose from a single criminal episode); Boler v. State, 678 So.2d 319 (Fla. 1996) (holding the mandatory minimum sentence of 25 years for first-degree murder had to run concurrently with the three-year minimum mandatory term under the enhancement statute for use of a firearm during the commission of a felony). The rationale underlying these cases was the lack of specific legislative authorization for the imposition of consecutive minimum mandatory sentences. Boler v. State, 678 So.2d 319 (Fla. 1996) (noting the lack of specific legislative authorization in the enhancement statutes). The direct holding of these cases does not apply because the Petitioner's sentences were not imposed consecutively. However, they also stand for the proposition that enhancement sentences may not be used in conjunction with one another to lengthen a defendant's sentence in the absence of

- 14 -

explicit statutory authority. But the prison releasee reoffender statute does explicitly authorize the imposition of both prison releasee reoffender sanctions and habitual offender sanctions. <u>State v. Enmund</u>, 476 So.2d 165 (Fla.1985)(approving consecutive twenty-five-year minimum mandatory sentences for two murders committed in the same criminal episode because the legislative allows dual minimum mandatory sentences to be imposed consecutively). Furthermore, the prison releasee reoffender statute is not being used to increase the length of the sentence; it merely increases the length of the minimum period of time that the Petitioner will have to spend in jail. The maximum sentence is increased by use of the habitual violent offender statute, not the prison releasee reoffender statute.

Moreover, the prison releasee reoffender sentence has no actual affect on the length of the Petitioner's sentence, since the court imposed a five year term under either form of sentencing. Thus, no double jeopardy violation occurred when the trial court sentenced the defendant as both a prison releasee reoffender and a habitual offender.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD ADDRESS THIS NON-JURISDICTIONAL ISSUE WHICH THE DISTRICT COURT AFFIRMED WITHOUT COMMENT AND, IF SO, WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SENTENCING THE PETITIONER AS AN HABITUAL VIOLENT FELONY OFFENDER WHERE IT RELIED UPON EXHIBITS PROVIDED BY THE PROSECUTOR WHICH WERE NOT MADE PART OF THE RECORD, AND THE PETITIONER NEITHER CHALLENGED THE VALIDITY OF THE CONVICTIONS, NOR OBJECTED TO THE SENTENCE IMPOSED ON THE GROUNDS RAISED ON APPEAL? (Restated)

Preliminary Statement

The Petitioner's claim that the trial court improperly imposed an habitual violent felony offender sentence because it did not prove or introduce into evidence proof of his prior qualifying convictions is not preserved for review and is without merit. This non-jurisdictional issue was affirmed without comment by the District Court and should not be addressed here. The State acknowledges that this Court has discretionary authority to consider issues other than those upon which jurisdiction is based where such other issues are fully briefed and dispositive of the case, <u>Savoie v. State</u>, 422 So.2d 308, 312 (Fla. 1982), but notes that the District Court below affirmed on this claim without comment. Clearly the instant issue is not dispositive of the case and the State therefore asserts that this Court should decline to address this issue. See: Stephens v. State, 572 So.2d 1387 (Fla. 1991) and State v. Gibson, 585 So.2d 285 (Fla. 1991)(Court declined to address other issues raised by the parties which lay beyond the scope of the certified question.); Burks v. State, 613 So.2d 441, 446 fn.6 (Fla. 1993) ("We decline to address the other

- 16 -

issues raised in the appeal because they are unnecessary to the resolution of the certified question."); <u>State v. Hodges</u>, 616 So.2d 994 (Fla. 1993) (The Court declined to address the second certified question in which claimant made a new argument for the first time on the grounds that it would require resolution of extensive factual matters, citing, <u>Trushin v. State</u>, 425 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1982).)

<u>Preservation</u>

The Petitioner, at the trial court level, did not argue below that any of his prior convictions and sentences could not be used as predicate offenses for violent career criminal sentencing, nor did he contend the State failed to prove these conviction or enter into evidence copies of the predicate convictions. (V2, 84-94). He also did not file a motion to correct his sentence pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b) on these grounds. Accordingly, his claim that the prior offenses were not sufficiently proven is not preserved and his sentence should be affirmed. <u>See Maddox v. State</u>, 708 So. 2d 617 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998), <u>rev</u>. <u>granted</u>, case no. 92,805 (no fundamental error in the sentencing context).

<u>Merits</u>

While the State contends that the Petitioner's claim is unpreserved, arguments about preservation are academic since the claim is without merit. The Petitioner was properly declared to be an habitual violent felony offender.

- 17 -

F.S. 775.084(1)(b) provides that a defendant may be qualified as an habitual violent felony offender where he has been previously convicted or released from confinement on an enumerated offense. Aggravated battery is one of the qualifying offenses.

As proof that the Petitioner qualified as an habitual violent felony offender, the record shows that the State submitted exhibits relating to the prior aggravated battery conviction to the court. The record also contains a copy of the Petitioner's PSI which shows a conviction for aggravated battery, a second degree felony, in case number 91-1949 on 8-17-91. (V1, 15). This document also shows that he was released from custody on that offense on 9-15-97, a fact which is confirmed by written letter from the corrections corporation responsible for the his confinement. (V1, 15, 66).

At the sentencing hearing, the Petitioner did not challenge the validity of the prior qualifying offense and indeed conceded that the release date within five years of the instant offense was accurate. (V2, 88). Thus, the State contends that any argument on this issue is both waived and without merit.

The legislature intended that the trial court make specific findings of fact when sentencing a habitual violent felony offender. "The Florida Supreme Court has held, however, that the failure to make such findings of fact is harmless error where evidence of timely prior convictions, which have not been pardoned or set aside, is easily discernible from the record,

- 18 -

thus allowing meaningful appellate review." <u>Herrington v. State</u>, 643 So.2d 1078 (Fla. 1994); <u>Quarterman v. State</u>, 670 So.2d 1169 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996). Here, it is clear that the failure to include the exhibits relied upon by the prosecutor and trial court is clearly a mere oversight. Significantly, despite this omission, the record without doubt provides the evidence required, in that the PSI, to which no objection was posed, also shows that the Petitioner was convicted of a qualifying offense for which he was released from custody within five years of commission of the instant offense. Thus, the Court is able to conduct meaningful appellate review and reversal is not warranted.

Finally, even if the fact that the record does not contain the certified conviction, reversal and imposition of a guideline sentence is not necessary. In view of the prison releasee reoffender sentence of five years, correction of the habitual violent felony offender sentence is unnecessary as the amount of actual time to be served by the Petitioner does not change. Should the Court nevertheless consider correction of any alleged error necessary, remand would be appropriate to allow the certified copies to be introduced and entered into the record and the court could reimpose the habitual offender sentence.

<u>Harmless Error</u>

The failure to make the predicate findings required by the habitual violent felony offender statute are subject to harmless error analysis, particularly where the State offers unrebutted evidence that a defendant has the requisite predicate

- 19 -

convictions. <u>State v. Rucker</u>, 613 So.2d 460 (Fla. 1993); <u>Critton</u> <u>v. State</u>, 619 So.2d 495 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993). Based upon the fact that the court clearly was presented with copies of the predicate objection to which no objection was made, and the fact that the PSI also reflected the fact the Petitioner qualified for sentencing as an habitual offender, any alleged error is harmless. This Court must affirm.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the State respectfully submits the certified question should be answered in the negative, the decision of the District Court of Appeal should be approved, and the convictions entered in the trial court should be affirmed.